

MAGISTRATE JUDGE COX

JUDGE HIBBLER

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

JUDGES COPY

FEB 10 2009

MAGISTRATE JUDGE JEFFREY COLE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA)

No. 08 CR 851

v.)

Violation: Title 18, United States
Code, Section 373

WILLIAM WHITE)

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

FILED

J.N

FEB 10 2009

MICHAEL W. DOBBINS
CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT

COUNT ONE

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-1 GRAND JURY charges:

1. At times material to this indictment:

a. In or about January 2003, Matthew Hale, the leader of a white supremacist organization known as the World Church of the Creator, was charged in a federal criminal case in the Northern District of Illinois with multiple counts of solicitation of the murder of United States District Judge Joan Humphrey Lefkow and obstruction of justice. Hale was tried before a jury in the Northern District of Illinois, convicted of one count of solicitation and two counts of obstruction, and sentenced to 480 months' imprisonment. Juror A was the foreperson of the jury that convicted Hale.

b. The website "Overthrow.com," which was accessible to the general public on the Internet, was a site created and maintained by defendant WILLIAM WHITE. "Overthrow.com" purported to be affiliated with the "American National Socialist Workers Party" ("ANSWP"). The ANSWP was an organization that, according to the Overthrow.com web site, claimed it was comprised of a "convergence of former [white supremacy]

'movement' activists who grew disgusted with the general garbage that 'the movement' has attracted and who formed the ANSWP under the Command of Bill White." Members of the ANSWP were described as "National Socialists... who fight for white working people."

2. From on or about September 11, 2008, through at least on or about October 11, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

WILLIAM WHITE,

defendant herein, with intent that another person engage in conduct constituting a felony that has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of force against the person of Juror A, in violation of the laws of the United States, and under circumstances strongly corroborative of that intent, solicited and otherwise endeavored to persuade such other person to engage in such conduct; in that defendant solicited and otherwise endeavored to persuade another person to injure Juror A on account of a verdict assented to by Juror A, in violation of Title 18, United States Code Section 1503.

3. It was part of the solicitation, inducement, and endeavor to persuade that on or about September 11, 2008, defendant WILLIAM WHITE caused to be displayed on the front page of "Overthrow.com" a posting entitled, "The Juror Who Convicted Matt Hale." The posting read: "Gay anti-racist [Juror A] was a juror who played a key role in convicting Matt Hale. Born [date], [he/she] lives at [address] with [his/her] gay black lover and [his/her] cat [name]." [His/Her] phone number is [phone number], cell phone [phone number], and [his/her] office is [phone number]."

4. It was further part of the solicitation, inducement, and endeavor to persuade that on or about September 12, 2008, defendant WILLIAM WHITE caused to be displayed on the front page of "Overthrow.com" a posting entitled, "[Juror A] Update - Since They Blocked the first photo." The posting read: "Gay anti-racist [Juror A] was a juror who played a key role in convicting Matt Hale. Born [date], [he/she] lives at [address] with [his/her] gay black lover and [his/her] cat [name]." [His/Her] phone number is [phone number], cell phone [phone number], and [his/her] office is [phone number]. Note that [University A] blocked much of [Juror A's] information after we linked to [his/her] photograph."

5. The above-described solicitation, inducement, and endeavor to persuade occurred under the following circumstances, among others, strongly corroborative of defendant WILLIAM WHITE's intent that another person engage in conduct constituting a felony that has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of force against the person of Juror A:

a. Prior to the solicitation, inducement, and endeavor to persuade, defendant WILLIAM WHITE was aware that individuals associated with the white supremacist movement, who were the target audience of "Overthrow.com," at times engaged in acts of violence directed at non-whites, Jews, homosexuals, and persons perceived by white supremacists as acting contrary to the interests of the white race.

b. Prior to the solicitation, inducement, and endeavor to persuade, defendant WILLIAM WHITE on multiple occasions caused postings to be made to and maintained on "Overthrow.com" that displayed what purported to be the home address and/or

other personal identifying information of individuals who were targets of criticism on Overthrow.com. Certain of these postings expressed WHITE's desire that acts of violence be committed against the individuals at the posted addresses. Several of these postings were accessible to persons visiting "Overthrow.com" between approximately September 11, 2008, and approximately October 11, 2008.

c. For example, Individual B is a Canadian civil rights lawyer who has authored publications regarding the use of the Internet in hate crimes. From at least on or about September 11, 2008, until on or about October 11, 2008, the following posting, originally posted on or about March 26, 2008, appeared on the website "Overthrow.com":

Kill [Individual B] Man Behind Human Rights Tribunal's Abuses Should Be Executed.

Commentary -- [Individual B], the sometimes Jewish, sometimes not, attorney behind the abuses of Canada's Human Rights Tribunal should be drug out into the street and shot, after appropriate trial by a revolutionary tribunal of Canada's white activists. It won't be hard to do, he can be found, easily, at his home, at [Address]...

We may no longer have the social cohesion and sense of purpose necessary to fight as a country, but those of us who have the social cohesion and sense of purpose necessary to unify as a race must take notice of an irreconcilable fact: [Individual B] is an enemy, not just of the white race, but of all humanity, and he must be killed. Find him at home and let him know you agree:[Address]

Emailed to you by:
Overthrow.com
ATTN: Bill White, Editor
Post Office Box 8601
Roanoke, VA 24014
<http://12.107.40.66>
nationalsocialistworkers@yahoo.com
answp@nazi.org

d. Elie Wiesel is an internationally known Holocaust survivor who has authored publications about the Holocaust. On or about February 1, 2007, Wiesel was attacked by Eric Hunt. Following a jury trial, Hunt was convicted of false imprisonment with a hate crime allegation, battery, and elder abuse. During Hunt's trial, the jury heard evidence regarding Hunt's view that the Holocaust did not happen and that Wiesel's books on that subject were fictitious.

On or about February 13, 2007, defendant WILLIAM WHITE caused a posting to be made to "Overthrow.com" entitled "Where Elie Wiesel Lives - In Case Anyone Was Looking For Him." This posting listed three addresses purporting to be Wiesel's residences.

On or about February 21, 2008, WHITE caused another posting to be made to "Overthrow.com," which read in part:

"Commentary -- I received a call today from the Associated Press regarding Eric Hunt and the assault on Elie Wiesel. In response, I make the following statement:

Elie Wiesel should be afraid to walk out his front door but for the rightful vengeance of the white working people he and his holocaust lies have exploited....

For decades, the Jews and the liars have used physical force, violent attacks on peaceful demonstrators and peaceful meetings, and the violent physical force of unjust and tyrannical laws to silence those who question the holocaust lie. If white people are going to undo this system, we have to be ready to adapt and use the tactics of our exploiters.

Insofar as my views may have played a role in motivating Mr. Hunt, I can only say that I hope to inspire a hundred more young white people to sacrifice themselves for our collective racial whole. The only thing more noble than sacrifice is victory.

Heil Hitler

Emailed to you by:
Overthrow.com / White Politics, LLC
ATTN: Bill White, Editor

Post Office Box 8601
Roanoke, VA 24014
<http://www.ouerthrow.com>
nsmroanoke@yahoo.com"

On or about September 25, 2008, WHITE caused a posting to be made to the website "Overthrow.com" entitled "Jews Arrested After Attacking Police At Wiesel Speech - Dozen ANSWP Activists Picket Holocaust Lies." In this post WHITE made reference to Eric Hunt, stating, "Last year, a fan of this website kidnapped Wiesel and tried to force him to confess his books on the "Holocaust" were knowing lies."

e. In or about September 2007, defendant WILLIAM WHITE caused to be posted to "Overthrow.com" an article entitled, "Addresses Of Jena 6 Niggers - In Case Anyone Wants To Deliver Justice." The posting then listed the names and addresses of six individuals involved in a matter in Jena, Louisiana that had received substantial media attention. Shortly after this article was posted to "Overthrow.com, an article was published in a Roanoke, Virginia-based newspaper, which was critical of the defendant WHITE for posting the home addresses of these six individuals. In response to this newspaper article, defendant WHITE posted a second article to "Overthrow.com," which read in part: "When the courts start enforcing laws against Internet threats and actual violence against anti-racists and the mainstream, Jewish owned media which finances and encourages them, I will stop broadcasting people's names and address with the opinion they should be lynched. However, as long as we live in a society in which laws are not enforced against Jews, Marxists and

other privileged members of the bourgeoisie, I will take advantage of that and use the lawless chaos they've created to push my view, which is that all Jews and Marxists (including their fellow traveling neo-cons, neo-liberals, Zionists and Judaized-Christians in both the Republican and Democratic Parties) should be shot, rather than debated -- along with their fellow travelers and chosen pets in the Negro 'rights' movement."

f. On or about February 28, 2005, certain family members of United States District Court Judge Joan Humphrey Lefkowitz were found murdered in their home. Before the results of the law enforcement investigation were made public, from on or about February 28, 2005 until in or about March 2005, defendant WILLIAM WHITE caused to be posted to "Overthrow.com" a series of articles related to the murders, including articles which claimed that the murders were carried out by white supremacists. On or about February 28, 2005 defendant WHITE caused an article to be posted to Overthrow.com entitled, "Hale Judge's Mother, Husband Murdered - White Nationalist Start String Of Assassinations At Feds Who Framed Creator Leader." This article made reference to the murders and stated in part:

"The husband and mother of the judge who shut down the World Church of the Creator have been assassinated by white nationalists who are promising to kill every federal agent and Jewish official associated with the case. According to a statement released tonight to white nationalist news service, individuals identifying themselves as members of the World Church of the Creator took responsibility for the killings and promised that other bodies would follow...

The killing is not the first linked to the Creator group. Benjamin Smith, the most prominent, killed nine people and wounded two others in a 1999 shooting rampage...

According to a statement released to the white-oriented press, other individuals associated with the case, most likely federal informer Tony Evola, the TE-TA-MA foundation, the Anti-Defamation League of B'nai B'rith, the federal prosecutors and investigators, and other minor anti-racist activists who taunted and encouraged the frame-up of Hale, may be future targets.

After the Hale trial, this website published personal information on Tony Evola, the federal informer who originally set Hale up, leading FBI officials to say that they would do 'whatever was in their power' to shut this website down -- something they have still not succeeded in doing...

--

Emailed to you by:
Libertarian Socialist News
ATTN: Bill White, Editor

Post Office Box 12244
Silver Springs, MD 20908

<http://66.101.143.208>
bwhite@mail.overthrow.com?"

g. On or about March 1, 2005, defendant WILLIAM WHITE caused an article to be posted to Overthrow.com entitled "I Don't Feel Bad About The Hit On Judge Lefkow - And I Don't Think Others Should, Either." This article again made reference to the murders of Judge Lefkow's family and stated in part:

"Commentary -- I don't feel bad that Judge Lefkow's family was murdered today. In fact, when I heard the story I laughed. 'Good for them!' was my first thought.

Everyone associated with the Matt Hale trial has deserved assassination for a long time. At the time, I believe I said that if I were Hale and I was railroaded like this I would kill -- not the judge -- but the ADL officers involved and their witnesses. In general, I would not kill a judge's family -- it strikes me as overly harsh -- but in this case the family members were Jews (well, in one case a converso), and really I can't mourn over dead Jews. Their people are vicious and bloodthirsty, they murdered at least 100 million non-Jews during the 20th Century; they've started the 21st Century by advocating the murder of more than one billion adherents of Islam; they are the persecutors of the white

race, and have been responsible for the exploitation, oppression, and murders of hundreds of millions of our people; they bear the collective guilt, and the world is a better place the less Jews that are in it.

But the abstract question of the ethics of killing Jews in general must be set aside here, because the meat of this question is whether it was just or unjust in this specific case for people who have been persecuted and denied their religion by the dictates of Judge Lefkow and the system she promotes to retaliate and wreck vengeance against her. In my view, it was clearly just, and I look forward to seeing who else this new white nationalist group of assassins kills next.

Judge Lefkow was the instrument by which the Jewish system of government in this country took from thousands of people in the religious creed which they held to be the truth. The ADL, through their lackeys in the TE-TA-MA foundation, were the specific group of Jews that directed and stage managed this persecution. What these people did to Matt Hale and the Creativity Movement was evil, and they deserved to experience the consequences of the evil they had done...

Yesterday, when the ADL officials and FBI agents and federal prosecutors and federal judges who are responsible for the persecution of the white race went to bed, they had no fear that they would ever be held accountable for any unreasonable or immoral ruling against a white activist. White activists were ridiculed. They were mocked. They were the kind of silly Jewish-television-show bad guy that anyone could kick around and know they could get away with it. For all of the propaganda alleging white activists are 'violent' 'terrorist' or 'dangerous,' to the Jewish system white nationalists were nothing more than a bunch fringe losers, not to be taken seriously.

Tonight, as these same ADL officials and FBI agents and federal prosecutors and federal judges go to bed, they have to think that tomorrow they may wake up and find their families murdered. Just as anti-racists routinely terrorize the families of white activists, threatening rape and murder against people who have nothing but have a relative who is a dissident, and the same ADL officials and FBI agents and federal prosecutors and federal judges protected those anti-racists in their terror and their terrorism, tonight those same ADL officials and FBI agents and federal prosecutors and federal judges can go to bed with the same vague feeling of unease and fear that they have inflicted and perpetuated through their miscarriage of justice, their subservience to evil, and their refusal to enforce the law.

I do not mourn the assassination of Judge Lefkow's family, and I hope the killer wrecks more havoc among the enemies of humanity, and the killer is never found. I do not say that because I have personal animosity for Judge Lefkow, or because I sick have a love of violence or death. What I love is justice, and this act of violence, publicized as it is to millions of those who passively engage in evil in the name of the Jew, sends a message of justice to those who thought they could be protected in the performance of evil.

Killing people -- killing people's families -- is not good. It is not a right thing to do. In a world that was right there would be no murder. But an eye for an eye is justice, and such acts of justice make me think, sometimes, that maybe there are some things still right with the world.

--

Emailed to you by:
Libertarian Socialist News
ATTN: Bill White, Editor

Post Office Box 12244
Silver Springs, MD 20908

<http://66.101.143.208>
bwhite@mail.overthrow.com"

h. On or about March 1, 2005, defendant WILLIAM WHITE caused an article to be posted to Overthrow.com entitled "[Individual C], [Federal Prosecutor D], [Federal Agent E], [Federal Prosecutor F], And [Federal Prosecutor G] May Be Next On Hit List - Addresses Of Future Targets Posted To Internet Discussion Groups." This article again made reference to the murders of Judge Lefkow's family and stated in part:

"Chicago, Illinois -- An email with the home addresses of and detailed personal information of a slew of federal and Jewish officials involved in the Matt Hale case has circulated on white nationalist discussion groups, with a notation that any of them may be the next targets of the unknown nationalist assassin who killed the family of Chicago judge Joan Lefkow.

[Individual C], Chicago Regional Director of the Anti-Defamation League of B'nai B'rith, a man who claimed in press releases to have spent 'five years' advocating the arrest and trial of Matt Hale, and who coordinated the TE-TA-

MA foundation, had his name heading the list of purported victims, along with his address and personal information on his family and daily activities...

While Overthrow would usually not hesitate to republish the personal information of these scumbags in full, at this time we feel there is so great a potential for action linked to such posting that we are not going to post email and its details at this time.

Also named on the email are [Federal Prosecutor D], who oversaw the prosecution conducted by [Federal Prosecutor F] and [Federal Prosecutor G], who are also named in the email, as well as personal information on [Federal Agent E], who was responsible for overseeing the investigation into Hale's activities, and who managed former federal informer Tony Evola.

Whether the email represents a legitimate threat, or just some angry activists blowing off steam, remains to be seen. After the unexpected assassination of Judge Lefkow's family, it seems that anything may be possible.

--

Emailed to you by:
Libertarian Socialist News
ATTN: Bill White, Editor

Post Office Box 12244
Silver Springs, MD 20908

<http://66.101.143.208>
bwhite@mail.overthrow.com

i. On or about May 22, 2008, defendant WILLIAM WHITE caused an article to be posted to Overthrow.com entitled "Feeling Better." This article made reference to certain events in WHITE's life that had caused him stress and described the thoughts and feelings WHITE experienced during such events:

"Things have become progressively worse, day by day, and I have woke up more and more often feeling the need to kill, kill, kill, and I have tried to get through my day while ignoring the need to destroy the wicked. Its not been easy.

I realized the other day that I have, almost without realizing it -- though that may seem a bit strange -- developed a very intricate plot for the murder of

about a score of Roanoke City's negro nuisances and their annoying counterparts at the Roanoke Times. I know everything about these assholes, where they live, who they live with, what they look like, where they go, when they go there. I estimate I could probably in the course of a few hours kill 15, 19 out of the 20 easy if I pick the right day and time, and still lived long enough to travel the country and begin picking off the ridiculous 'independent journalists' that staff the Southern Poverty Law Center's Intelligence Report. I have a list of those as well."

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 373.

A TRUE BILL:

FOREPERSON

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY